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1. Name of Property

historic name __Rego Park Jewish Center

other name/site number’

2. L-oc.:atibn"

' sireet & number___ 97-30 Queens Boulevard L ~ [Jrnot for publication
city or town Hego Park o ' ' ) : N/A vicinity
state  New York. codé. NY county Queens  code 081 ~ zipcode 11374

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

-

As ihe designated authority under the National Hlstonc Preservation Act, as amended, | heteby certify that this B nomination
[3 request for determination of eligibility meets the decumentation standards for reglstering properties in the National Ragistar of
Historic Places and meets the prosedural and profassional requirements set forth in 38 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
B meets [J does not maet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant

@onally U statemde & jocally. { [T See continuation sheet for additional comments.)
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In my opinion, the property D mests Ij does not meet the National Reg:ster criteria, ( ]] See contmuatlon sheat for additional
comments.)
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4. National Park Service Certification
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[ See continuation sheet.
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Régc Park Jewish Center
Name of Property

Quaens County, New York
County and State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property - Category of Property

(check as many boxes as apply) (check cnly one box)
[ public-local _ (1 district
private &4 building(s) .
'l public—State | T [] site -
] public-Federal | [ structure
| [] object

‘Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.).

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
{Do not include previously listed rescurces in the count.}

Contributing Noncontributing

1 , : buildings
sites
structures
objects

1 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register

N/A

6. Function or Use

Historic Function
(Enter categories from instructions)

RELGION/religious facility

Current Function
“{Enter categorias from Instructions)

RELIGION/religious facility

7. Descripiion

Archiiectural Classification
{Enter categories from instructions)

Moderne

Narrative Description

Materials
_ (Enter categories from instructions)
foundation masenry
walls masanry
roof asphalt
other

{Describe the historle and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheats.)



United Stafes Department of the Interior . | OMB No, 1024-0018, NPS Form
Nationai Park Service : ‘ : . :
Rego Park Jewish Center

. ‘ o Queens County, New York
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

‘Section number 7 Page 1

DESCRIPTION

The Rego Park Jewish Center is located at 97-30 Queens Boulevmd on the south side of the Boulevmd between
64" Road and 65™ Road, in the Rego Park neighborhood of the borough of Queens in New York City. A non-
contributing addition to the structure called the “Youth Building," initially planned in 1956 and built in '1962-
63, extends south through the block to Saunders Street. It is not visible from Queens Boulevard. Because of the
slope of the land, the: Saunders Street entrance to the Youth Building is at the third-story level of the original
building. The boundaries of the property are described as Queens Tax Block 3084, Lot 14. On Queernis
Boulevard, the building is flanked by an apartment house to the east and a group of one-story stores on the west,
- typical of the Queens Boulevard strestscape in this section of the borough. The Saunders Street extension is
flanked east and west by a long 1ow of six-story apartment buildings, with similar buildings across the street.

Exterior: Queens Boulevard Elevation

The Rego Park Jewish Center was built in 1948 to desi gn's‘ by alchitect Frank Grad. It is adorned with a large
-mosaic on the front fagade and leaded glass windows inside, all designed by A. Raymond Katz, a major figure

in twentieth century American J ewish art. The Rego Park Jewish Center is a four-story building with an original -

two-story wing to the east and a later extension to the rear. The main portion of the original building, facing
Queens Boulevard, has a massive stone-faced fagade that steps back from the property line as it rises. The main

" facade is three stories tall. It is comprised of three, double-door entrances approached by a flight of steps with a

'large, long mosaic by A, Raymond Katz immediately above the entrances. Above the mosaic is a windowless
blank stone wall adorned in the center with a-large roundel in which 2 magen david is-inscribed. Projecting out
from the level of the entrance and flanking the flight of steps are two-story tall towers, each with a tall, narrow
window capped by a slightly projecting modernistic tripartite lintel. Each tower rises to a slightly recessed cap
with simple oramental horizontal striations and a chamfered comer. Rising above the three-story-tall main -
fagade is a fourth, recessed stone-faced story. While the fagade at all levels is faced in stone, the visible portions
of the side facades are faced in bmk :

The entra’nce doors are deeply rec_essed behind a polished granite facing. Each set of double doors is adorned
‘with six octagonal panels--three on either door--within which is set a sculpted Jewish symbol or Hebrew letter.
Symbols include a hand holding a shofar (the ram’s horn sounded at the Jewish New Year), a lulav and etrog
(leaves and fruit used for celebrating the Succot holiday), an eight-br anched menorah for Hanukka, and the-
Tablets of the Law, Several of these occur more than once. Above the entrance is a grand mosaic designed by
‘A. Raymond Katz. Like the érnamented doors, the mosaic features Jewish religious objects including a Torah
scroll, the tablets of the Ten Commandments and the ritual symbols of several Jewish holidays (shofar for the
New Year, menorah and dreidel for Hannuka, Iulav and etrog for Succot). In the center is one of Katz’s . -
characteristic elaborations of a Hebrew letter, in this case the letter ““shin” (¥ — often used as an abbreviation for
the Hebrew word “shaddat,” a Biblical name for God) sitting atop a menorah 'md including within its lines the
- bread, wine and cemdles of a traditional S'lbbath evening meal. :

_ Direet]y to the cast of the main fagade is'a two—'story wing, faced in the same stone, with a raised porch in front
approached by a short flight of steps. A recessed set of three glass doors, each with a transom, is topped by a -
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long, slightly plOJBCUT]g lintel. At the second story is a set of small square windows. Below the wmdows is an
1dded plOJectmg 51gn with the name “Rego Park J ew1sh Center.” :

The Saunders Street elevation or “Youth Building” was construc'te'd in 1963-64 and is a two-story structure
faced in white brick with blue brick trim. It is entered from a porch approached by a short flight of steps.

- The entrance is at the west end of the fagade, through three glass doors. This area is enframed by slightly
projecting blue brick piers. To the east, the fagade is blank at the first story, with a strip-of square windows
at the second story. West of this wing is a playground, which extends north to the plain, brick-faced rear of
the original building. The 1962-63 Y outh Building” connects directly to the original building through an
extension and includes a second social hall with its own stage, and various meetmg rooms and Emcﬂlaly

. spaces, none of them archltecturally si gmﬁcant

Main B uilding Interior

Doors in a two-story side wing léad into an entrance vestibule connecting to various offices. Opposite the
door is the entrance to a chapel, The chapel is a plain space with a beamed ceiling with the ceiling and walls
painted white. There are various memorial plaques on the rear wall, Three leaded glass windows on the west
wall (on the right looking towards the front) are each adorned with two scenes of the six days of Creation as
recounted in the bock of Genesis. Wood wainscoting runs along the lower half of the-walls. At the front of
the chapel is & recessed wood-paneled area enclosing the ark. Atop the ark is the traditional Hebrew
inscription, “Know Before Whom You are Standing.” The ark itself, also of wood, has an upper panel
inscribed with the Hebrew words “»1w 9" (“El Shaddai”), a Biblical name for God. The ark is adorned with.

“small square panels with various symbols, including a menorah and the flag of the State of Israel founded in -
:1948 which is also the year that the synagogue was CO]‘,ISU ucted. :

The tripleéntrance in the. main fagade leads into a narrow vestibule, beyond which lies the main sanctuary. The
three sets of doors leading into the vestibule from-the main entrance have more of the octagonal panels with

* Tewish symbols seen on their outside. These doors are ‘mirrored by another set of three similarly adormed
double doors leading into the sanctuary, as well as a single-set of doors leading into and out of the vestibule at
either end. The wood-paneled walls are hung with vanous ‘memorial plaques

The main s’anctuary is a long, two—story—tall 1'ectangular-room with a rear balcony. It has an enframed set of
three, tall (almost floor-to-ceiling) leaded glass windows on either side. The main sanctuary also has plaster
“walls, a coved ceiling with a dropped section on either side and a front area, recessed behind what in a theater
would be called a proscenium arch, in which an elaborate ark is set against a curving rear wall with a screen in
the upper portion. The three windows on either side of the sanctuary are filled with omamiental polychromatic
leaded ghss Each window is divided into a taller tipper portion and a shorter lower portion. Each of the
windows on the east side of the sanctuary (on the left, facing the ark) is identified at the top of the upper section
. by large letters spelling out the Hebrew names of the three traditional daily prayer services: shachrir (mnw —
-morning service) ciosest to the ark, minchah (7nIr— afternoon service) in the center, and ma‘ariv (3yn —
evening service) closest to the balcony. Each of these wmdows has a complex demgn mtel woven with letters,
symbols and abstract Sh"lpCS anc colors. :
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The window inscribed shachrit, also identified as the “Abraham window,” includes a large letter aleph () in the
lower section and a Hebrew inscription in the upper part of the window (Genesis, chapter 13, verse 15): “All of
the land which you see, unto you do I give it and unto your seed forever.” Above these lines, outlined in red, is
“the contour of the Land of Israel” with the Hebrew word “Zion™ inscribed within it. The window inscribed
with the word minchah (also known as the “Isaac Window”) includes a Tepresentation of the akeda (“the
binding of Isaac™) at the bottom of the lower portion of the window, with an image of a stone altar and a ram
(substituted as a sacrifice in place of Isaac). At the top of that portion are the Hebrew words Kiddush ha-shem
(own w179) or “sanctification of the name,” a reference to the martyrdom that Isaac faced. A shofar, or ram’s
horn, appears in the upper portion of the window, together with the Hebrew letters yud (*) and tazdi (%), the first
two letters in the Hebrew name of Isaac (Yitzhak).

The window inscribed with the word maariv (also known as the “Jacob Window”) has in its lower portion a
magen david inscribed with the Hebrew letter yud (*), which might be there because it is the initial letter of the
Hebrew name for Jacob (Ya-akov), or Jacob’s alternate name, Israel (Yisra-el). It is surrounded by twelve .
circles enclosing representations of what might be the twelve signs of the zodiac (not uncommon in synagogue
ornament), but might also be a reference to the twelve tribes of Israel, descended from Jacob’s twelve sons. The
upper portion of the window includes stars and what appears to be a candle, representative perhaps of the
gvening (th1s is the window of the evening service).

The three windows on the opposite wall are not named. The window closest to the ark features an enormous
hand pointing downward in the upper portion, with vegetation sprouting below, suggesting a symbolic
representation of Creation. The center window is inscribed at the top with the tetragrammaton--the four-letter
name of God. The lower section shows what appears to be a prayer book and a pair of hands raised in prayer,
below which is a representation of an altar. The window nearest the balcony in its upper section shows the two
tablets of the Law on a mountain (presumably Mount Zion), while its lower section shows a Torah scroil.
Conceptually, this window symbolizes Revelation. At the rear of the sanctuary, the balcony rail is adorned with
simple panels that are repeated on the side walls in the areas between each upper and lower window. There is a
slightly recessed area at the rear of the balcony with doors at either end leading to staircases.

At the front of the sanctuary, plain wall surfaces at either side each have a doorway and flank the central
proscenium arch in front of the ark. The proscenium arch itself is formed by a wide, stylized pier at either side,
with a plain frieze running across the top, inscribed with the Hebrew letters spelling out the Sh’ma: “Hear O
Israel, the Lord Our God, the Lord is One.” The area beyond the arch is a raised platform with a curving, wood-
paneled rear wall and an ornamental screen at its top. At the wall’s center is the ark. Its polished marble frame is
inset with mosaic panels with various Jewish symbols (s’imilar to those in the wooden doors of the ark in the
small chapel). Top center is a representation of the two Tablets of the Law. Within the frame is the ark, with
wooden doors adorned with inscribed octagons and topped with a panel in which is inscribed the Hebrew phrase
El Shaddai (~w ), a Biblical name for God. :

A staircase leads to the basement, where a series of ancillary spaces connects to the social hall, located ciirectl'y
~ below the sanctuary. The hall is approached by a short flight of steps leading downwards into the space from a

rear vestibule separated from the hall only by a set of square piers supporting a geometrically curving ceiling -

section. There is a stage at the opposite end of the hall. Though the hall is roughly square in plan, its cetling is
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comprised largely of a very.shallow round dome, which is its most significant architectural feature. A staircase
entered from a stair hall just west of the far end of the vestibule between the main entrance and the mam
sanctuary leads upstairs to the gallery level of the sanctuary. This staircase is in the southernmast of the two

- short towers that flank the main synagogue entrance on Queens Boulevard. The tall narrow window is also
“leaded glass, apparently also demgned by A..Raymond Katz. It includes elaborations of Hebrew letters
alternating with Jewish symbols, set within circles among the various geometric patterns. One image in'such a
circle is a representation of the synagogue’s facade on Queens Boulevard, but seen in reverse (the two-story .
wing is shown on the right instead of the left). Half way up, between the main sanctuary floor and the balcony,
is a level of the building devoted to. classrooms, utilitarian in character. Directly above the main sanctua.ry is a
gymnasmm with a basketball court, dnect]y beneath the building’s rool" : :

In general the Rego Park I ewish Center refains a high degree of integrity of location, deSign éetting, materials,

workmanship, feeling and association. It has been continuously maintained as a synagogue since its .
- construction in 1948, Alterations pumarﬂy affect minor spaces such as offices and classrooms The main
fagcade, main sanctumy, vestibule and chapel all survive ]arge]y ntact. .
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8. Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one ar more boxes for the oriteria qualifying the proparty
for Nationat _Register ]isting.)

A Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

[] B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past,

X C Property embaodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose compeonents lack
individual distinction.

1 D Property has yielded, or is likely to yleld,
information impottant in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
{Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

[ B removed from its original location.

[ € a birthplace or grave.

1 D a cemetery.

[3 E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
0Fa cor.nmemorati;fe property.

[3 G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 vears.

Narrative Statement of Significance

{Explain the signlficance of the property on one or mare continuation sheets.)

Areas of Significance
{enter categories fram instructions)

Religion

Ethnic Heritage: Jewish

Architeciure

Period of Significance
1948-1956

Significant Dates
1948

Significant Persons

{Compleie if Critericn B is marked above)
N/A

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder
Frank Grad

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography

_ {Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on ane or more continuation sheets,
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[ recordad by Historic American Buildings Survey

# ' .

[ recorded by Histotic American Engineering
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{7 State Historic Preservation Office
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[l Fedaral agency

I Local government

[ University

[ Other Name of repository:

Rego Park Jewish Center
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

- The Rego Park Jewish Center is historically significant under Criterion A in the areas of ethnic history and

- religion as an early post-World War II modermnist synagogue surviving in Queens. Constructed in 1948, it served

the new and fast-growing Jewish population of Rego Park. The groundbreaking of the Rego Park Jewish Centel
in 1946 included remarks by Mayor O’ Dwyer, who spoke about the need to resettle hundreds of thousands of
~ displaced Jews then 1n limbo following the end of World War H The mayor returned in 1948 for the
synagocrue s dedication, attended by several thousand people "The-synagogue off1c1a11y opened in January
19497 At some unknown date, the Rego Park Jewish Center was presented with a plaque of honor from
Eleanor Roosevelt. Its name also refleets its status as a product of the J ewish Center movement that redefined
American synagogues in the first half of the twentieth century. More than just a synagogue, the Jewish Center

included social halls, classrooms, and athletic facﬂltles A 1a1 ae addmon the “Youth Building,” was planned in |

1956 was built 1963- 64.*

- The Rego Park Jewish Centeris also architecturally significant under Criterion C and-Criterion
Consideration A as an early example of modernism in New York synagogues. Its-design by architect Frank
Grad appears to be modeled on Bauhaus-influenced European synagogues of the 1930s, in particular the
Oberstrasse Synagogue built for a Reform congregation in Hamburg in 1931. Within a decade of the
synagogue’s construction, modernism became dorminant in American synagogue design. Complementing the
Center’s architectural design are a large mosaic on the exterior and ornamental leaded-glass windows on the

" interior, all designed by Jewish artist A. Raymond Katz, famed for his omamental treatment of the letters of
. the Hebrew alphabet, interlocking with Jewish symbols. The Rego Park Jewish Center survives today as a

dlstmctlve arch1tectu1 al, cultural and religious landmark of the Jewish community of New York City.

HISTORICAL' CDNTEXT
The Development of Rego Park and lts J EWlSh Populatlon-

Rego Park is a neighborhood.in the east centra] area of Queens, adjoining Forest Hills on the southeast; Mlddle
Village on the southwest and Elmhurst and Corona on the north. 1t is bordered by three wide boulevards:
Queens Boulevard, Yellowstone Boulevard, and Woodhaven Boulevard. Rego Park takes its name from the
*Real Good Construction Company” that was active in real estate development in the area during the 1920s.

. The company bought up a number of farms and built single-family and multi-family row- houses and apartment
bulldmgs The neighborhood’s first stores were built in 1926 on Queens Boulevard at 63" Drive, not far from

the current site of the Rego Park Jewish Center, The Opening of a railroad station in 1928 helped fuel growth, -

'« Salling’ on Jews Charged by Mayor,” New York Times, September 16, 1946, p.2.
: “O Dwyer Dedicates Rego Jewish Center,” New York Times, Septembel 27, 1948, p.47.

* New York Times, Tanuary 16, 1949, p.56.
* New York City Department of Buildings, Alteration 94-1956 and Alteration 592-1960; Certificates of Occupancy 135086 of 1960
and 156118 of 1964. The synagogue newsletter for December 14, 1962, shows a rendering of “The New Youth Building to be erected
on Saunders Streel.” The C of O for 1964 describes the work as Lomp]eted 3/11/64 The synagogue newsletter of June 26, 1964,
Shows a photo of the completed building, -

7 For general information on Rego Patk, see “Rego Park,” by Vincent Seyfried, in the Encyciopedm af New York City.
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but it was the extension of the Grand Central Parkway in 1935 and the opening of the IND subway station in
1936 on Queens Boulevard that led to major population increases in the nei ighborhood.®

Almost from its beginnings, Rego Park had a significant Jewish population, shared with the adjoining _
neighborhood of Forest Hills. Rego Park’s Jewish population was part of the much larger Jewish population of
New York City, Following a major wave of immigration from Eastern Europe that began in the 1880s and
reached its peak in the early decades of the twentieth century, New York City became home to an enormous
Eastern European J ewish immigrant community. Up until Woﬂd War I, some two million Jews (toughly one-
third of all the Jews in Europe) arrived in the United States.” The vast majority first settled in New York City.
The Jewish immigrants created an enormous Yiddish-speaking community. In this city within a city, Jewish
immigrants were able to find kosher food, Yiddish-language newspapers and mutual aid societies. Major Jewish
- immigration to the Lower East Side only stopped after new restnctions went into effect with the passage in

1924 of new immigration laws. :

Although the city’s Jewish population was enormous, the pre-World War I Jewish population of Queens was
quite small. In 1913, New York City’s Jewish population was estimated at 1,330,000 and of that number, only
23,000 lived in Queens.® Synagogues played a major role in the life of New York’s Jewish population. New
York's 1918 Jewish population, estimated at between 1 and 1.5 million, was served by 700 synagogues. In that
year, West Queens had just one synagogue in one building while East Queens (east of Flushing Avenue) had 18
synagogues, only five of which had their own buildings.

Rego Park, together with neighboring Forest Hills, attracted new Jewish residents in the mid-twentieth century
in part because of its unusually high proportion of rental apartment buildings, rare in the rest of the borough.g
As of 1940, the Bronx was densely developed with apartment buildings and had the highest proportion of
Jewish residents of any borough (38.6%), while Queens was largely developed with one- and two-family houses
and had the smallest Jewish population at 8. 9%.'° From 1930 to 1940, the number of apartment buildings in
Rego Park and Forest Hills grew as did the Jewish population from 1,364 to 9,783.1! From 1940 to 1960, the
neighborhoods of Forest Hills, Rego Park and Kew Gardens saw further major growth of their Jewish
communities, while the Jewish population doubled in Queens as a whole. By 1960, Queens had the city’s

6 Daniel A. Wishnoff, The Tolerance Point: Race, Public Housing And The Forest Hills Controversy, 1945-1975 (PhD d1ssertanon
City University of New York, 2005), pp. 153-4.

7 Moses Rischin, The Promised Land: New York's Jews, 1870-1914 (New York, 1970), p.20, cited in Dolkart.

8 The Jewish Communal Register of New York City 1917-1918 (New York: Kehillah [Jewish Community], 1918), p.86.

? The connection between apartment houses, Jewish population, and the prévalence in Queens of ene- and two-family houses was
made by historian Richard Flunz, cited in Wishnoff, p. 156.

¥ 15 1946, the year that the Rego Park Jewish Center was being planned, Queens’s Jewish population stood at 107,855, or 8.7% of the
borough’s total population of 1,297,634, placing it behind every borough except Staten Island. By comparison, the Bronx had a Jewish
population of 592,183, representing 44% of the borough’s total population; Broaklyn’ Jewish population was 974,763, representing
37% of its total; Manhattan had 351,037, or 19% of the total. Staten Island’s Jewish population was negligible. American Jewish
Yearbook, 5706 [1945-46], p.644.

' Table 1, “Bstimated Jewish Population in New York City by Borough and Nassau, Suffolk and Westchester Counties, for Selected
-Years, 1923-1975," C. Morris Horowitz and Lawrence ], Horowitz, Kaplan, The Jewish Population of the New York City Area, 1900-
1975, (New York: Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New-York, 1959), 274-275; cited in Wishnoff, p.136 fn. 17.
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" voice to less 1mmed1ately observable — but far more pervasive - historical processes.

secand largest Jewish population, exceeded cnly by B] ooklyn.'” The centr al Jewish cultur al, commumty and
religious institution in these post- -World War II Queens communities was the local Jewish Center.

- New York Synagogues and the “Jew1sh Center” Phenomenon

" The h131,01y of New York synagogues extends back to the construction in 1729 of the original “Sheanth Israe]”

“or Mill Street synagogue (no longer extant). In the intervening three centuries, synagogue architecture has gone
through many forms as evidenced by surviving New York synagogues that included a number of. distinct types, - :

" ranging from “stieblach,” (store-front synagogues) and vernacular “tenement synagogues” of long narrow

structures suited to the 100x20 foot lots typical of the Lower East Side (e.g. the Stanton Street Shul, listed in the

- National Register of Historic Places i in 2002) to the grand, high-style “cathedral” synagogues (e.g. the Central . -
" Synagogue, listed in the National Register of Historic Places in 1970). The twentieth century saw the

development of a new; particularly American synagogue type known as the Jewish Center that in addition to
being a place of worship, served as a center of community life. Besides a sanctuary, it included classrooms,

- social halls and in the largest buﬂchngs even gyms and sw1n1mmg pools

. The development of the Jewish Center was- ca1efu11y Chl omcled by historian David Kaufman who traced the

origin of the phenomenon to several sources that included the millennia-old tradition of the synagogue as a
place of worship, study and assembly.- 13 Other influences were the nincteenth century Protestant development
of the “institutional church™ and the social requirements of newly-developed communities of middle-class,
assimilated first- and second-generation J ewish families. One specific example of the form was the West Side .
Jewish Center built in 1917 on Manhattan's West 86™ Street by the influential Rabbi Mordecai Kaplan. Kaplan
has often been cited as the originator of the Jewish Center;, but Kaufman argued that many of the necessary

conditions were already in place, and that “Kaplan was simply.the right man at the right time, gwmg audible
w14

Nevertheless, Kaplan’s Jewish Center eXemp]ified the type as it de‘ve]oped in the years following' World War I
and was without question an influential model for. similar Jewish Centers constructed around the city in the

‘ foliowing decades. As described by Kaufman, “The new institution would be neither a synagogue, nor a Jewish

school, nor a social club like the YMHA, but rather, a combination of all three. The idea was one of unification

~ and simplification, meant to harmonize dissonant elements in the cacophomc miliew of the contemnporary Jewish

3313

community; as formulated by Kaplan it became the germination of the synagogue-center movement. Kaplan

described his concephon of the Jewish Cénter in 1918:

We state frankly that we are 'establis‘hing the Jewish Center for the purpose of deriving from it for

- ourselves pleasures of a social, intellectual | and spiritual character... The Jewish Center will be
dominated by a purpose of far-reaching significance, if we, who are about to establish it, will do
30 with the deliberate and conscious aim of conducting it as an experiment to help us solve the

| "2 Wishnoff, 157.

13 David Kaufman, Shul with a Pooi The “Synagogue-Center” in American Jewish History (Brandeis Univérsﬁy Press, 1999).

¥ 1bid, p.7.-
" Ibid, pp. 232-233.
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problem of Jewish life and religion... °The elements which are indispensable to health in human
life are four in number: atmosphere, light, food and exercise. Provide Jewish life with these
constituents, and you will solve the problem of Judaism."”

Kaplan saw the Jewish Center as meeting four different levels of need and described by Kaufman as

“... »atmosphere,’ or a Jewish environment; ‘light,’ interpreted as ‘entertainment and joy-giving recreations’;
the “food’ of Jewish knowledge; and ‘exercise,” understood as the opportunity for practical action. In other
words, the Kaplanian synagogue-center is intended.to provide a spatial context for Jewishness, a recreational
center, an institute for Jewish education (for all ages), and a headquarters for social and political activism..
Created as a congregational entity and intended to revolve around a synagogal hub, the West Side Jewish Center
was a synagogue-center and, as such, became the p1ototype for a new movemem in American J ewish life. 18

Frected in 1917 on West 86" Street, the building was unlike any prior synagogue. As described in 1917, the
eleven-story building was planned to include “...a spacious lobby and anditorium on the first floor with coat
rooms and lavatories on the second floor. The synagogue extends through the third and fourth floors with the
exception of the front of the building, where the fourth floor space is to be used as a library, room for trustees,
and gallery. The additional stories that will be erected at some future time will contain the following: Fifth and
sixth floors, gymnasium and exercise rooms; seventh and eighth floors, natatorium and baths, including steam
and hot rooms, showers, &c. and sleeping rooms; ninth floor, class and club rooms for junior; tenth floor, club
rooms and banquet hall, with necessary kitchen and pantries. u19 Kaplan’s West Side Jewish Center was
followed by a number of major such complexes in Brooklyn, including first and most famous, the Brooklyn
Jewish Center built in the 1920s and 1930s, a major example of the type that continued being built in the 19403
and 1950s.

The Rego Park Jewish Center

As Jewish communities grew in Queens, they also turned to the Jewish Center model. The Rego Park Jewish
Center first opened in 1939 at 63-51 Wetherole Street, five blocks from its current location.?® (The congregation
rented space in a new commercial building on Wetherole Street.) According to an unpublished congregational
history, the center was formed by a small group of families, who had been meeting in a small building for
services “conducted by the Jewish Center of Forest Hills West.. .attended by about 100 worshipers. Some time
thereafter [after 1937] and before the next High Holy Days this building was destroyed by fire and never
rebuilt.”*'The Forest Hills West Jewish Center built a new home on its current site in Forest Hills, leaving the
Rego Park fam111cs without a synagogue. :

' thid, p. 238.

"7 Tbid, 239.

'8 Kaufman explains that Kaplan's type of “Jewish Center” must be consxdered sepmately from a contempm aneous “‘secular”
institution also known as a “Jewish Center,” p. 240.

19 “Jewish Social Centre,” New York Times, March 10, 1918, p. RE[2.

0 «0'Dwyer Dedicates Rego Jewish Center,” New York Times, September 27, 1948, p. 47. .

* “History Rego Park Jewish Center,” typescript in possession of the congregalion, including a memoir written by one of the founding
members of the congregation (unsigned, undated).
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“ Accordin gtoa memoir of one Of the Rego Park membels

- Attheend of 1938 or e'uly in 1939, the late Dr.Max Wemer ang my bell and asked us

- .whether we would be interested in forming a Jewish Centerin Rego Park. We agreed and met
with him, his wife and five other families, and then and there the Rego Park Jewish Center was
organized... More people became interested and we began holding meetings at Herman
Finkelstein’s office. We sodn outgrew this space and some time in 1939, 1 believe, rented a room
at the Lost Battalion Hill. A constitution and by-laws were drawn...and elections were 1o be .

- held... On April 24, 1939, a certificate of 1 incorporation, s a religious corporation, was filed in

. the County Clelk’s offlce Queens County In 01der to raise money we ran Dutch suppers and

card partles

In 1941, the congregatlon hll‘Bd its first rabbi (Rabbi Derby) a student from the ]ew1sh Theologlcal Se:rmnary
who served part time as the first permanent rabbi, remaining with the Rego Park Jewish Center for sever al ‘

yEars. ’ %> The memoir contmued

I wi_ll never forget that summer day in 1941 when a young Seminary student sat alongside of me
at my office and we discussed that situation: I was very impressed with him and recommended

~ his acceptance... That young man, Rabbi Derby:..was éngaged as our first permanent Rabbi for
the year commencing September of 1941. This same Rabbl Derby is still with us today, so that -
time has taught us that our choice was a very wise one '

-Rabbi Josiah Derby (1914-2002) was ordained in 1943 at the Jewish ~Th'eologica'l Seminary, and served until his -

retirement in 1983, According to his obituary, “Rabbi Derby was born in Berditchev, Ukraine; and came to the
“United States in 1921. He earned bachelor’s and master’s degrees in mathematics from Harvard University,
completing his studies i in 1937. During World War II, he served as a chaplain with the U.S. armed forces in
Hawaii. Rabbi Derby was the seventh generation direct descendent of Rabbi Levi Yitzhak of Berditchev, a
prominent chasidic spiritual leader, and traces his lineage back 900 years through a long line of 1'abbis.”25

* So quickly did the congregation grow that by 1942 it was able to purchase the property for a new home and
reported that, “The Rego Park Jewish Center purchased for improvement with a temple and recreation hall a
.plot of 8,000 square feet on the south side of Queens Boulevard.”*® Even this brief mention in the press
specified the inclusion of a “recreation hall” that. suggested the focus of the Jewish Center’s leaders. The
following year, the synagogue elected a new president, Irving Lookstein, who served until 1950 Lookstem

shephelded the construction of the new center. 2

2 Ibid.

2 Inid.

u 1bid.

B «Rabbi Josiah Derby, 88, The New York Jewish Week J anuary 3, 2003, P 19.

%<1 ong Island Deals Are Residential,” New York Times, January 17, 1942, p.27.

CTA plague hanging in the synagogue reads: “Dedicated in eternal gratitude to the mcmmy of Trving Lookstein, Pres1dent 1943-1950,

Honarary president and Lifetime Lrustee. Tota]ly c01nm1tted to J udalsm and:the synagogue;, hs ‘was a major force i in the bu11dmg and .

suppart of this House of God.”

4
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According to Rabbi Leon Rosenbloom of Congregation Beth Shalom, “At that point, most Jews in New York
lived in Brooklyn and the Bronx...Queens was the hlmeﬂands Rabbi Derby built what would become a
magnificent keystone of the Conservative movement.” ® The Rego Park Jewish Center became a multi-faceted
center for the Rego Park Jewish community. As described by historian Daniel A. Wishnoff:

For many Jewish families...moving to Forest Hills, Rego Park or Kew Gardens was more than
an expression of their upward mobility. They moved to these neighborhoods to live near other
Jewish families and be part of a Jewish community. “For many Jewish families, settling here
seems to have involved a new adventure in Jewishness,” the writer Morris Freedman observed,

explessmg itself in formal affiliation, for the first time in their lives, with a Jewish community
institution.” The “Jewish community institution” in central Queens was the- Jewish Center. The
Jewish Center served not only as the place where Jewish families worshipped but also as a
central meeting place for leisure and educational activities in the suburban Jewish community.
The religious significance of the Jewish Center, the historian Deborah Dash Moore observed,
was secondary to the social and cultural activities it offered. Those moving to central Queens
were second generation Jews who were more Americanized than their immigrant parents. The
Jewish Center served as a touchstone to their Jewish ethnicity and as a sort of “bulwark” against
complete assimilation into mainstream middle-class lifestyles. Aside from the traditional
religious and Hebrew schools, the Jew1sh Centers provided dozens of athletic and social
activities for children as well as adults® ..By 1955, there were four new Jewish Centers in
central Queens. In an article describing the Jewish Center phenomenon, Morris Freedman
‘recognized the centrality of Queens Boulevard in the growing suburban Jewish communities in
Queens. Queens Boulevard ran through Rego Park, Forest Hills and Kew Gardens, featured
several new luxury apartrment complexes and was where the Rego Park and Forest Hills Jewish
Centers were constructed only blocks from each other. The Rego Park Jewish Center was a

“great white building looking somewhat like a bank, with a huge Jewish Star of David on one
blank wall and flanked by some stores,” Freedman wrote

Like other Jewish Centers, the Rego Park building served many purposes. Besides the large sanctuary and a _
more intimate chapel, it inciuded “...twelve school rooms, [a] gymnasium, [a] library, ... meeting rooms and [a]
banquet hall. 1 To design this large new center, which would indeed function as a mulii- -purpose center for the
Rego Park Jewish community, the congregation hired architect Frank Grad. European-born Jewish architect
Frank Grad (1882-1968) established his architecture and design firm in New Jersey in 1906. His sons, Bernard
& Howard, joined the firmi in 1932, and the Newark firm, now Grad Architecture Associates continues in
practice to the present.

23 «Rabbi Josiah Derby, father of Marin rabbi, dies in Fla.,” Jewish Bulletin of Northern California, Janvary 3, 2003, p. 37.

2 Wishnoff, p. 159. His references are to Morris Freedman, “New Jewish Community in Formation: A Conservative Center Catering
to Present Day Needs,” Commentary, January 1955, 36; and Debarah Dash Moare, Ar Home in America: Second Generation New
York Jews (New York: Columbia Unwer51ty Press, 1981), 237, 124.

» Wishnof, p- 160 '

Mgy Dwyer Dedlcatcs Rego Jewish Center,” New York Times, September 27, 1948 P 47
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As early as 1913, Grad estabhshed himself s a major ¢ '11ch1tectum] presence n Newalk As 1ecounted Ina
history of the CJty published that year: :

Among the architects of whom N ewark can be genuinely proud is the young Austrian, Frank
Grad, who as'a youth of nineteeh came to this country ten years ago, and in that short space of
time has made a success of himself in his chosen profession of aichitecture.. He was born in’
Austria, March 27, 1883, the son of Osios Grad, a painter. and decorator in Austria, and his wife,
‘Minnie (Keinstreich) Grad. After a course in preparatory schools in Austrid, Frank Grad studied
~mechanical engineering in a schoo] of technology. His education was further supplemented by a
course in technology at Vienna, where he specialized in architecture. After completing his studies
he spent a year and a half in England, working as a mechanical draughtsman. Believing that he
could rise most rapidly in his profession in the United, States, he sailed for America on the
steamer “Melono” and landed in New York December 24, 1902. He immediately entered the
empioyment of Gounld & Eberhardt, of Newark, where he remained for a year and a half, after
which he took a position with the Domestic Sewing Machine Company as draftsman. Ambitious
. to enter the profession which had attracted him from the first, the young man soon- severed his
connection with the Domestic Sewing Machine Company, and entered the offlces of Laurence F.
Weir, architect, of New York City. He remained with Mr. Weir for three years, thoroughly
schooling himself in the technique of architecture, and in 1906, believing thie time had corie -
when he might successfully start in business for himself, he left New York; went to New Jersey,
and after passing the state examinations, located in Newark.* S

Grad’s early work in Newark included apartment houses a jewelry fact01y, office buildings, a department store,
private homes, a warehouse, and an “amnusement hall.”* Major work in Newark included the Center Market

Building, Beth Israel Hospital, and the City Hall annex, as well as the New Jersey State Capitol in Trenton.> He -

also designed two Newark theaters (a building type having much in common with houses of wor ship), the
Stanley Theater {opened in 1927 and-Symphony Ha}] that opened in 1925 as the Salaam Temple of the Shriners
fraternal organization. Also in the 1920s, Grad “...won a competition for its design of the famous traffic sigrial,
built, in 1925, at the intersection of Market and Broad. In 1926, a survey firm hailed it as “the busiest traffic
center in the world.” The signal, made of bronze and stone, was known throughout the country and fedtured an

officer inside it who changed the signals manually.”*® Though based in New J ersey, Grad also designed several -
_ buildings in New York City His best-known such work was the Essex House hote] on Centlal Park South

(1929-30).

Grad’s expeuence dBSI gning the prize- winning- Newark YM~Y‘WHA in the early 1920s made him a good chowe

~ for the new Jewish Center. The Y was a similar building type, combining most of the elements that would be
- needed in Rego Park. As described in The Amierican Architect, the Y included a swimming pool, gymnasium,

locker rooms, spectators’ gallery, reception hall, game room, women’s social room, “Men’ Department,”

%2 Frank John Ulquhalt “Frank Grad,” A ermy ofﬂze City ofNewmk New Jersey ( Lewis Historical Publlshlng, 1913) p- ll6.

¥ Ibid.

* New York Times, January 21, 1968, p. 76.

$ Wlllmm B. Helmr elch The Enduring Community: The Jews of Newark cmr:l Men oWesr‘ {Transaction Publishers, 1999), p. 96.
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bowlirig alley, roof garden, and aud1tor1um Grad also designed an Art Deco style pool and bathhouse for the
WPA in the 1930s. In the years immediately following his work in Rego Park, Grad designed two other
synagogues: Young Israe! of the Concourse, 1015 Walton Avenue, in thc Bronx, in 1949,” and Adas Israel in
Washington, D.C. (Connecticut Avenue and Porter Street NW) in 1950

The Design of the Rego Park Jewish Center: Early Post-war Mm_lérnism

The years immediate following the end of World War Il saw a major shift in architectural style away from the
late Art Deco or Modeme towards the International Style and other types of Modernism, Historian Samuel
Gruber wrote of this immediate post-war period of synagogue design that “...in the 1940s, it was not clear A
which way synagogue design would go [historicist or modern]...Scme of the planning aspects of prewar Jewish
centers, which allowed expansion of the sanctuary and the multiple use of spaces, dictated a more modern

" aesthetic.”® In 1947, the Unicn of American Hebrew Congregations (UATIC, the official organization of Reform
synagogues) sponsored a two-day meeting in New York City on the subject of modern design for synagogues.
The organization stated that “Artists and architects must work in close cooperation to create houses of worship
in keeping with contemporary religious spirit, speakers agreed yesterday at the closing sessions of a conference
on the modern synagogue...Eli Jacques Kahn, president of the Municipal Axt Society, predicted a change in all
types of buildings to make them “more worthy of our present culture. o

By the 1950s, modernism was the standard. In 1953, under the title “Art for Religion: Collaborative Project for
a Synagogue Successfully Employs Modern Design,” the New York Times covered an exhibition highlighting

..sculpture by Ibram Lassaw and mural decoration by Adolph Gottlieb and Robert Motherwell, which has
been made for the synagogue which Percival Goodman designed for Congregation Beth El in Springfield, Mass.
The writer maintained that the exhibit “...proves forcefully that modern art can have a grandeur, a beauty and a
luxuriant 1lchness which makes it appropnate as decoration for houses of worsh1p

In 1957 (ten years after its first conference), the UAHC put together an exhibit and national conference on
synagogue architecture and art at the Barbizon-Plaza Hotel attended by 135 Jewish leaders and architects. The
conference reported that “American Judaism, an architect said yesterday, has embarked on an adventure in
architecture.” Contemporary design, he noted, predorminates in synagogues that are being built at the rate of
about thirty a year in the New York area. The process is ‘most dramatic in the suburbs, Lewis Davis [of Davis
Brody]...remarked yesterday. .. Harry M. Prince, chairman of the architects’ panel of the Union of American
Hebrew Congregations...said that Judaism had “no coherent tradition of design, such as the Gothic.” Judaism is
therefore making greater use of contemporary design, he said, in an effort to adopt and express itself in
American terms. This “adventure in architecture,” he said, is an important force. Richard M. Bennett, a fellow
of the American Institute of Architects, said...that progress in synagogue design in the last decade “will make a
most interesting section in the history of American architecture for its intensity of change, its evolutionary

S «Building for Y. M. & Y. W H. Association, Newark, N.J.,” The American Architect, July 20, 1921, pp. 48 ff.
¥7 “Building Plans Filed,” New York Times, August 5, 1949, p.30.

38 «Adas Israel to Hold Cornerstone Rite for Synagogue,” The Washington Post, May 6, 1950, p.10.

¥ Samuel D. Gruber, American Synagogues: A Centiry of Architecture and Jewish Community, p. 83.

0 «Modern Design Urged in Houses of Worship,” New York Times, June 24, 1947 p.6.

M «art for Religion,” New York Times, May 24, 1953, p.X8.
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richness and its variety of solution and expi ession.” By 1963, New York’s Tewish Museum could devote its
opening show to “Récent American Synagogue Architecture” and include exampies by such leaders of the
modern movement as “Pietro Belluschi, Marcel Breuer, Philip-Johnson, Louvis Kahn, Eric Mendelsohn MIHO] u-
" Yamasaki and Frank Lloyd Wright.” »42

Prank Gl ad’s design for the Rego Park Synagogue ranked as one of the first of the new crop of modem
synagogues in New York City. Grad’s designs in the.1910s and 1920s reflected the historicist trends of the day,
but by 1929 he began turning out Art Deco designs, notably the Lefcourt Building in Newark and the Essex
House in Manhattan. In 1948, he designed the Rego Park Jewish Center as a modernist building, one of which
can be 1rnag1ned either as late Modeme or early Modern, with blocky massing and narrow, dramatic slit window
in short projecting towers framing the main entrance, approached by a short flight of stairs. The sheit flanking

~ towers and staircase hearkened back to synagogue designs of fifty years earlier, reinterpreted in a modernistic

. vein. The general model for the design, however, appeared to be the Bauhaus-influenced European synagogues
of the 1930s, in partwu]ar the Oberstrasse Synagogue built for a Reform congregation in Hambul g, Germany in -
- 1931 1o de81gns byl BW]Sh architects Felix Ascher and Robert Fnedmann

According to historian Carol Krinsky, “The synagogues of Hamburg—Obe1st1asse Plauen, and lelna exemplify
‘a current of taste in the years around 1930 in which geometric shapes and large stretches of plain wall reflected
forrms found also in other types of buildings. The similarities reveal that certain Jews in many parts of Burepe
“embraced progressive aspects of design: Reform and Liberal Jews, eager to assimilate in society, saw
themselves as intellectually progressive and sought to express their attitude with new architectural sty]es
Samué] Gruber wiote of the Hamburg synagogue, “The simple geometry and austere exterior of the
' buiidinc .. Was mﬂuential in postwar synagogues in Emope and North Amenca o '

1243

Krinsky’s description of the Oberstrasse design could just as easily ha\_/'e described the Rego Park Jewish Centeér
with “...a rectilinear main block set back from the street, with projecting lower blocks (housing the weekday

- synagogue, community rooms, and office) to the left and right.”* In terms of exterior ornament, where the

. Hamburg synagogue had a centrally placed blind roundel, inscribed with a stylized rectilinear menorah, in the
center of a large stone expanse, the Rego Park Jewish Center had a centrally placed blind roundel, inscribed
with a magen david, in roughly the same location. The Rego Park Jewish Center’s main sanctuary was a
Modem. design, with spare ornament and modest geometric patterning. The building also had a large social hall
beneath the sanctuary, as well as school rooms and a gymnasium in the upper stories. o

| Mosaic by A. Raymond Katz and Vincent Foscato

The Rego Park synagogue was a less seveie 1node1nist de51gn than its Hamburg predecessor. Unlike the -
Oberstrasse Synagogue, the plain stone expanse of the Rego Park Jewish Center’s fagade was accented by its
most striking feature, an enormous mosaic over the main entrance designed by A. Raymond Katz (1895-1964)

2 Ada Louise Iqut']ble “Architecture: Designs fOI American Synagogues,” New Yon’-: Trmes Gctober 3, 1963 P 17
3 Carol Herselle Krinsky, Synagogues ofEmope (MIT Press 1985) P 302.

™ Gruber, p.94. ‘ .

* Ibid.
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and produced by Vincent Foscato (d.1966). Hungarian-born A. Raymond Katz became perhaps the most
prominent artist associated with twentieth-century synagogue art in the United States Accor dmg to his obituary,

his work included: ‘

..murals, stained glass and mosaics in many synagogues and other houses of worship. He was
prob'lbly best known for his embellishment of the Hebrew alphabet. For example, he would take
the Hebrew letter “Cheth,” similar to an inverted English U, and grace it with the face of a beautiful
woman. Or, he would take the letter “Aleph” and transform its sweeping lines into “Teacher and
Pupil”...Mr. Katz was born in Hungary on April 21, 1895. His early days in the United States were
spent in Chicago, where he studied at the American Institute of Chicago and the Chicago Academy
of Arts. He won his first prize for art at the Century of Progress world’s fair in Chicago in 1934.
He moved east and in 1938 was commissioned to do four paintings, 12 feet by 8 feet each, for the
Young Women’s Hebrew Association of Elizabeth, N.J. Much of his work was symbolic and
interpretive of Jewish traditions. He was said to have been among the first Jewish artists to receive
the approval of Orthodox rabbis for his interpretive handling of such subjects as the Ten
Commandments,*

According to an introduction in a book by C.J. Bulliet, Katz’s work was highly praised. Bulliet stated that “With
décor for the Stephen Wise Free Syhagogue, New York, almost completed, A. Raymond Katz, after a quarter of
a century of illustrious achievement, has ariived at leadership of Jewish mural artists in America. Not only is he
a leader, but an important innovator, adding something fundamental to Jewish art the world over. 47 Katz’s
1934 work at the Chicago “Century of Progress World’s Fair was followed by a commission for the Loop
Synagogue in Chicago, in which Katz “...developed boldly...an idea on which he had been working nearly a
score of years — more or less realistic forms based on motifs derived from the Hebrew alphabet.”*® Bulliet noted
that by turning to the letters of the alphabet, Katz avoided the issues raised by the,second of the Ten
Commandments and stated that “For, while the forms that emerge from the floriation of the Hebrew letters are
sometimes realistic, they are without human passions and emotions, though they go sometimes beyond the
bounds prescribed by the most severely orthodox interpreters of the Commandment of Moses-against the
“making of graven images or any likeness of anything. 49

Katz’s designs for the sanctuary windows took a similar approach, combining Hebrew letters with other Jewish
symbols. Like so much of Katz's work, the mosaic at the Rego Park Jewish Center, typically Deco/Modern in
its use of color and geometric patterning, avoided figurative painting. Instead, it featured Jewish religious
objects including a Torah scroll, the tablets of the Ten Commandments, and the ritual symbols of several Jewish
holidays (shofar for the New Year, menorah and dreidel for Hannuka, lulav and etrog for Succot). In the
center, Katz placed one of his characteristic elaborations of a Hebrew letter, in this case the letter “shin” (¥ —
often used as an abbreviation for the Hebrew word “shaddai,” a Biblical name for God) sitting atop a menorah
and including within its lines the bread, wine and candles of a traditional Sabbath evening meal.

*“ New York Times, March 26, 1974, p. 44. ‘

oL Bulliet, “Introduction” to A. Raymond Katz, A New An‘ Sfor an Qld Religion (revised edition, New York: Russell F. Moore
Company, Inc., £952) n.p- :
*® Ibid.

¥ Ibid.
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said, ‘but rather thie leader of an orchestra. It is his job to try to find the best-qualified men to work with him.

In 1945 Katz published a book on the subJect 27 or zgmal Motifs Based on the Hebrew Alphabez » In 1947 he
moved to New York C]ty, where he ““... specialized in stained glass windows and in mosaics, mostly for
synagogues, but sometimes for Chnstmn churches #and chapels, working with Vincente Foscato,.an Italian in
New York who has revived the genuine old art of the mosaic. Their collaboration on the fagade of the Rego
Park Jewish Center on Long Island is signed ‘Katz and Foscato.” It is an heroic creation in size, thirty-five feet
long by six feet tall. »30 Ratz also did the fagade for “...a Syrian Sephardic Synagogue in Brooklyn and murals
for an Orthodox synagogue in the Bronx. He is now completing a seties of windows based on one or the other
of the thirty-nine books of the Old Testament for a synagogue in Kansas Clty 3! Barlier in his career, Katz -
did turn out figurative w011( described by Buillet as: »

In the first edition of “Prelude to a Ne-w Art for an Old Religion”...Katz presented recognizable
forms of men, women and animals stemming from a Hebrew letter. Even so, Katz was far more
. restrained there in the matter of “graven images” than such other world-respected Jewish artists as
‘Marc Chagall, Chaim Soutine-and the conterhporary artists in Israel... Katz seeks.to give new :
. pictorial interpretations to the Hebrew letters... “My theory has had unexpected acceptance,” he
observed in a recent conversation, “by those Jews and Christians alike who feel that a J ewxsh house
of worshlp ought to be as Hebraic as a Christian Chulch is Christian.”> : :

Though Bulhet pointed to various non-I ewish solrces for Katz’s interest in the alphabet from ornament at the
Alhambra back to Egyptian hieroglyphics,-such an approach would also have resonated with any rabbi or
congregation familiar with the ancient kabbahs‘uc tradition, going back at least to the Sefer Yetzzra of fmdlng

.mystical significance in the Hebrew letters.”

- Katz apparently con'sidered hirnself a modernist and part of a team creating any new building. One year before
" working on the Rego Park Jewish Center, he attended the UAHC conference on modern synagogues referred to

previously, at which Ely Jacques Kahn said, among other things, that “...tHe artist and craftsman as well as the

architect must play an important part in bringing about this change. “The architect is not a soloist,” Mr. Kahn
?154

Katz later wrote in a similar spirit, I heartlly agree with [architect] William Lescaze. . that “architect, sculptor )

" and painter be acknowledged so that they may work again together, dream again together, and make that

wonderful and simultanecus creation happen agatn as it should and did in the Renaissance.” %3 Katz established a
collaboration with Vincent Foscato, president of F. Foscato, Inc., * ...manufactm_els and installers of mosaic and
terrazzo... Foscato mosaics, fashioned of marble or smalti inlays imported from Italy, and terrazzo patterns,
made of crushed marble and mortar, have been used in the decor of buildings throughout the United States and

" Ibid,

3! Ibid.

2 Ibid. o

% For an explicalion of this work, see Aiyeh Kapl'ln Sefer Yetzirah: The Boak of Creation (Wemm Boolks, revised edition, 1997)
Though its precise origin is unknows, some scholars date it.back to Tabmudic times. Among other thmgs it imagines God’s creating -
the world through the power of the lelters of the alphabet.

! “NModern Design Urged in Houses of Worship,” New York Times, Tune 24, 1947, p.6.

% A. Raymond Katz, Letter to the Editor, New York Times, May 8, 1961, p.34..























































